

Overdose Administration of Thermostable Newcastle Disease Vaccines to Naïve Unvaccinated 6 Weeks Old Cockerels at NVRI, Vom Plateau state, Nigeria

Abstract

One hundred and fifty (150) unvaccinated 6 weeks old cockerel were divided into six groups of 25 birds each. Pre-vaccination haemagglutination inhibition (HI) mean titers values of $2^{1.4}$, $<2^1$, 2^1 , $<2^1$, 2^1 and $2^{1.6}$ were observed for groups A, B, C, D, E and F, respectively. Two batches of Newcastle Disease vaccine (NDVI-2) of 50 and 200 doses produced at National Veterinary Research Institute Vom, with EID_{50} value of 7.7 and 7.6 per dose were administered to groups B and D at 10x (10 times the normal dose) of NDVI-2 via the intra-ocular and intranasal routes. The rest of the groups were administered normal doses of NDVI-2 through the intra-ocular route. Consequently, 40% of the vaccinated birds were randomly selected and sero-monitored twice at 2 and 4 weeks intervals. No observable ND clinical signs were seen in both groups B and D irrespective of the vaccine over dosage. Post-vaccination (HI) immune profiling of the vaccinated flock revealed steady increase in the HI mean titer value per group, while groups B and D which had 10x the normal dose showed high response in comparison to groups that had NDVI-2 standard dose. HI immune profile results 2 weeks post-vaccination revealed HI mean titer values of $2^{3.0}$, $2^{4.0}$, $2^{3.2}$, $2^{4.2}$, $2^{3.6}$ and $2^{4.4}$ for groups A, B, C, D, E and F respectively; week 4 post-vaccination haemagglutination inhibition mean titer values of $2^{3.6}$, $2^{5.4}$, $2^{3.0}$, $2^{5.7}$, $2^{5.2}$ and $2^{4.0}$ for the respective groups. Week 8 HI mean titer values of $2^{2.2}$, $2^{1.8}$, $2^{2.4}$, $2^{2.5}$, $2^{3.2}$ and $2^{1.8}$ were equally observed. While week 12 HI mean titer values of $2^{2.0}$, $2^{1.8}$, $2^{2.0}$, $2^{2.0}$, $2^{1.8}$ and $2^{1.8}$ were recorded. Post-vaccination HI mean titer values showed that groups B and D with 10x the normal dose had no ~~any adverse~~ observable adverse clinical signs but rather high ND antibody response was observed in groups where overdose of standard NDVI-2 vaccine were administered and evidence of ND antibody depletion was equally observed in all the vaccinated groups irrespective of the dose administrated.

Comment [d1]: Newcastle disease should be written in full at the first mention

Key words: Overdose Administration, Thermostable Newcastle Disease Vaccine and Unvaccinated 6 Weeks Old Cockerels.

INTRODUCTION

Newcastle Disease (ND) is a highly contagious viral disease of both wild and domestic avian species of all ages (1; 2). The disease is caused by virulent strains of avian paramyxovirus type 1 (APMV-1) (3). In unvaccinated poultry flock, morbidity and mortality rates of up to 100 % ~~has have~~ been reported (4). The rate of morbidity and mortality vary greatly depending on the virulent nature of the infecting virus strain and susceptibility of the host bird or flock (2). In endemic region especially in developing countries, outbreaks have been reported to have enormous economic consequences on backyard poultry flock (5), which are usually unvaccinated and free roaming (6).

Vaccination against Newcastle disease has been reported as the major control strategy against outbreaks especially in countries with endemic very virulent Newcastle Disease Virus (vvNDV) and highly deficient biosecurity measures (7, 8, and 9). Avirulent, NDVI-2 thermostable virus has been developed to control ND in rural poultry (10, 11). The vaccine was discovered after an extensive screening of ND virus isolates by scientists at the University of Queensland Australia; this ND vaccine strain has been extensively shown with capability to protect rural poultry in Asia and Africa (12, 13, 14).

In Nigeria, ND outbreak causes severe morbidity and mortality in susceptible poultry flocks with an estimated 8.3 billion naira loss to poultry industry in 2008 (15). It is estimated that with a population of about 183 million birds, village chickens account for 94 % of the entire poultry population in Nigeria (15). It contributes immensely to rural development by income generation for the owners and ensures household food security as it supplies high quality

animal protein (meat and egg); provide petty cash derived from sales of poultry products, poverty alleviation and employment creation for rural dwellers (16; 17). Derivable benefit of rural poultry farming is constrained by occasional annual outbreaks of Newcastle disease as these birds are usually not vaccinated against ND (6) and are usually highly susceptible to ND infection. In tropical countries including Nigeria where poor cold storage facilities in field situation is a huge challenge, the use of thermostable vaccine such as NDVI-2 and NDV-4HR has been suggested and adopted for the control of ND outbreaks in rural poultry.

In this study, mean HI antibody titer values of 6 weeks old cockerel given ten times (10x) the normal dose of NDVI-2 vaccine were examined and compared with cockerels that were administered normal dose of the vaccine. The results and implication of our findings are discussed

Comment [d2]: I think there is a need for the authors to make known the justification for this study and why overdose vaccination was carried out

Materials and Method

EID₅₀ values determination

The *EID₅₀* values of batches of thermostable (NDVI-2) of 50 dose and 200 doses **ND vaccines** respectively produced by the National Veterinary Research Institute (NVRI), **Vom** were determined after inoculation in 10-day old chicken embryonated **eggs** following OIE, (18) standard. The vaccine virus titer per dose (vaccine virus concentration per dose) were calculated and determined according to Kaaber method (19).

Comment [d3]: Vom is where? Please state country

Comment [d4]: Are these specific pathogen free?

Cockerel

Two hundred and sixty (260) cockerels were hatched and brooded at NVRI Poultry Division. The birds were placed on *ad libitum* feeding and steady supply of water; with strict adherence to biosecurity and bio-exclusion practices at the rearing pen.

At week 4, 150 of the brooded birds were randomly selected and moved to Quality Control Experimental Unit, where they were divided into **6** groups (A, B, C, D E and F) and each group was made up of 25 cockerels. The birds were allowed to stabilize and were equally placed on *ad libitum* feeding and water supply, with strict adherence to biosecurity and bioexclusion practices at the rearing pen. Sequel to stabilization at the rearing pen, blood samples were collected from the wing vein and harvested sera samples subjected to HI pre-vaccination antibody immune profiling.

Groups B and D were administered overdose at 10x (10 times the normal dose) for NDVI-2 of 50 and 200 doses respectively via the intra-ocular and intranasal routes. The rest of the other groups were administered normal doses for NDVI-2 using the intra-ocular route. Blood samples were collected via the wing vein twice at 2 and 4 weeks intervals for ND antibody immune profiling using the haemagglutination and haemagglutination inhibition test.

Haemagglutination Test

The serum samples collected from the birds were tested for ND virus antibodies by haemagglutination and haemagglutination inhibition tests. The HA titers of standard NDV antigen was determined as described by Allan and Gough (20).

Comment [d5]: What was the HA unit used?

Haemagglutination Inhibition Test

Haemagglutination inhibition (HI) test was carried out on serum samples collected pre- and post- vaccination. The HI mean titer for each screened serum sample was determined and

expressed in \log base 2. The geometric mean antibody titer (GMTs) was also determined for each group pre- and post- vaccination. HI mean titre of $\geq 2 \log_2$ was considered positive (20) while HI mean titers of $\leq 2 \log_2$ were considered negative.

Results

Table1: EID_{50} values for NDVI-2 vaccines used for the study

Vaccine type & dose	EID_{50} values after production	\log titer value above standard EID_{50}	Standard EID_{50} Values
NDVI-2 50 doses	\log_{10} 7.7per dose	\log 2.2,	\log_{10} 5.5per dose
NDVI-2 200 doses	\log_{10} 7.6per dose	\log 2.1	\log_{10} 5.5per dose

Table2: Pre-vaccination and Post-vaccination haemagglutination inhibition immune profiling mean titers values

Groups	Week 1 Mean Pre- vaccination HI Titre Value	Week 2 Mean Pre- vaccination HI Titre Value	Week 4 Mean Pre- vaccination HI Titre Value	Week 8 Mean Pre- vaccination HI Titre Value	Week 12 Mean Pre- vaccination HI Titre Value	Observable ND clinical signs/symptoms	Comment [d6]: Why this column? Also, in next table. Since there was no experimental infection.
							Comment [d7]: Tables 2 and 3 can be merged. Instead of this last column on ND signs, incorporate the mean geometric values

A	<2 ^{1.4}	2 ^{3.0}	2 ^{3.6}	2 ^{2.2}	Nil
*B	<2 ¹	2 ^{4.0}	2 ^{5.4}	2 ^{1.8}	Nil
C	<2 ¹	2 ^{3.2}	2 ^{3.0}	2 ^{2.4}	Nil
*D	<2 ¹	2 ^{4.2}	2 ^{5.7}	2 ^{2.5}	Nil
E	<2 ¹	2 ^{3.6}	2 ^{5.2}	2 ^{3.2}	Nil
F	<2 ^{1.6}	2 ^{4.4}	2 ^{4.0}	2 ^{1.8}	Nil

*Groups B and D showing high haemagglutination inhibition titre value at week 2 post-vaccination.

Table 3; ~~logarithmic B(base-two) logarithmic~~ mean titer values pre- and post-vaccinations for weeks 1,2,4,8 and 12. Conversion of base-two logarithmic mean titers values to Geometric mean titres values.

Groups	Week 1 Mean Pre- vaccination HI Titre Value	Week 2 Mean Pre- vaccination HI Titre Value	Week 4 Mean Pre- vaccination HI Titre Value	Week 8 Mean Pre- vaccination HI Titre Value	Week 12 Mean Pre- vaccination HI Titre Value	Observable ND clinical signs/symptoms
A	0	80	121	46		Nil
B	0	160	422	35		Nil
C	0	92	80	53		Nil
D	0	184	520	57		Nil
E	0	243	368	92		Nil
F	0	211	160	35		Nil

*Conversion of base-two logarithmic mean titers values to Geometric mean titers (GMTs) (source, M Brugh[2])

Comment [d8]: I suggest the title should be Geometric mean titres pre- and post-vaccination for weeks 1,2,4, 8 and 12

The EID_{50} values of the vaccines used for the study were well above recommended EID_{50} for NDVI-2 with $\log 2.2$ and $\log 2.1$ (Table 1) respectively. The extra EID_{50} values as observed is recommended since it will cater for probable mean titer drop or loss in field situation that might result from poor handling and possible temperature variation during transit. The HI immune profiling showed that at week 2 and week 4 there were evidence of sero-conversion (detectable protective antibody production) in the vaccinated flock irrespective of the administered dose and absence of any observable clinical signs in the vaccinated flock (Table 2 and 3). The groups administered overdose showed higher titer values of up to 1 *logarithm* more than the groups that were administered normal NDVI-2 dose (Table 2). This observable antibody response persisted till week 4 (Table 2). However, significant ND HI mean antibody titer drop was observed in all the groups by week 8 post-vaccination (Table 2 and Table 3). Using Pedro Villegas conversion table of base-two *logarithmic* mean titer values to Geometric mean titer (GMT) values for all the vaccinated groups (Table 3), shows the GMT values progression for all the vaccinated groups, and also evidence of GMT reduction as the post-vaccination period advances (Table 3)

Discussion

The findings of this study revealed that administration of 10 times overdose of wholesome, standard field fit NDVI-2 vaccine is not associated with any adverse observable clinical consequences in young unvaccinated cockerels. Our findings have further demonstrated that in an event of NDVI-2 vaccine overdose, the resultant effect was rather an observable anamnestic or high HI antibody response by an unprimed vaccinated flock. This result is similar to the observation of (11 and 21), where it was reported that NDVI-2 vaccine virus, sequel to overdose administration produces no evidence of clinical respiratory signs, weight

loss, and mortality in young chickens or egg production drop in laying birds. The NDVI-2 vaccine strain is innocuous to both birds and handlers and it has been established that overdose administration of NDVI-2 vaccine virus, is not associated with any known clinical pathological consequences (21). Our observations further support the findings of previous works on the consequent implication of wholesome, field fit NDVI-2 vaccine overdose administration to susceptible unvaccinated poultry flock.

Comment [d9]: How did you decide this claim of harmlessness in birds and handlers?

Furthermore, our findings suggest that overdose administration of NDVI-2 vaccine to naïve unvaccinated flock will not hinder or unnecessarily prolong antibody depletion. The elicited antibodies formation from our study peaked between week 2 and week 4. Birds that received over dosage of NDVI-2 showed a *1logarithm* titer value higher than birds that received normal dose. Evidence of antibody weaning or depletion was observed by week 8 in all the groups. This finding is equally in agreement with the finding of (13) where it was suggested that NDVI-2 vaccine can confer protection for up to 8 weeks. Thus, as observed by (22) it is recommended that repeated vaccinations induces progressively higher HI antibody titers that could correspond to high levels of protection; though repeated administration was not studied, our finding suggest a repeat administration of NDVI-2 vaccine between week 6 and week 8 post-vaccination.

Comment [d10]: What is the novel finding in this study?

Comment [d11]: Did you check the antibody levels before the experiment? What was the vaccination history of the experimental birds? What about the embryonated eggs? Were there sourced from ND vaccination –free flocks? As all these may possibly play some roles in the outcome

Current conventional vaccination programs for ND virus include the use of either low-virulent live-virus vaccines or inactivated vaccines to induce protective immunity while producing minimal adverse effects in birds (23). Vaccination using non-virulent NDV strains protects susceptible birds against ND disease, producing an antibody response either locally, systemically or both (23).

Comment [d12]: If I may ask, have you considered possible toxicities as a result of the overdose. May be blood analysis and or serum biochemistry may answer that?

Therefore, for an effective and efficient ND control strategy especially in rural poultry flock which are usually not vaccinated (6), will involve the use of wholesome, field fit NDVI-2 vaccine should be of utmost priority and with series of vaccination, repeated and revaccination in accordance with stipulated NDVI-2 vaccine schedule in regions where ND is endemic.

Comment [d13]: This statement is not clear and appears incomplete

Conclusion

Vaccination against Newcastle disease outbreak remains the utmost viable control option for ND in domestic poultry flock. Our findings therefore concludes that in field situation where it is determined that the reconstituted NDVI-2 vaccine volume is more than number birds to be vaccinated, over dose administration of up to ten times (10x) of recommended dose can be administered via the intra ocular and intra nasal routes for certified wholesome, field fit NDVI-2 vaccine. This will curb vaccine wastages, since this study has shown and support other findings that over dose administration of NDVI-2, will trigger higher HI immune antibody response in susceptible vaccinated poultry flock..

References

- 1 Seal, B. S, King, D. J. and Sellers, H. S. (2000). The avian response to Newcastle disease virus. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, 24: 257-268.4.
- 2 Alexander DJ (2003) Newcastle disease, other Paramyxoviridae and Pneumovirus Infections. In: Saif YM, Barnes HJ, Glisson JR, Fadly AM, McDougald LR, Swayne DE (Eds.), *Diseases of Poultry*, 11th edn, USA, Ames: Iowa State University Press Pp: 63-100.

Comment [d14]: The reference format is inconsistent

- 3 OIE (2013). Office of International Epizootics – Terrestrial Manual of Standards.
- 4 Aldous E. W. and Alexander D.J. (2008) Newcastle disease in pheasants (*Phasianus colchicus*): a review. *Veterinary Journal*, 175: 181-185.
- 5 Cappelle, J., Caron, A., Servan De Almeida, R., and Gil, P. (2015). Empirical analysis suggests continuous and homogeneous circulation of Newcastle disease virus in a wide range of wild bird species in Africa. *Epidemiology and Infections*, 143: (6):1292-303.
- 6 Egbuji, Anthony N , John O. Ibu, Ismail A. Shittu, Echeonwu, G. O. N., Enura L. Uwanibe, Dauda Bwala, Joshine Kiagama, Evelyn Dung, Davou Nyam, Chinemerem Obene, Adamu Kwanga, Fatima Mukaila, Haruna Dagwong, Sati Lokason, Nicodemus Useh and Jude Rabo. (2017). Screening of rural scavenging birds for the presence of detectible protective Newcastle disease antibodies in some selected rural communities of Plateau State. *African Journal of Microbiology Research* 11 (37), pp. 1431-1433.
- 7 Allan, W.H., Lancaster, J.E. and Toth, B. (1978). *Newcastle disease vaccines-their production and use*. FAO Animal Production Series No. 10. FAO, Rome.
- 8 Aini I, Ibrahim A.L, and Spradbrow P.B. (1990). Field trials of a food based vaccine to protect village chickens against Newcastle disease. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 49: 216 – 219.
- 9 Usman, M. (2002). Effects of vaccination of chickens against Newcastle diseases with thermostable V4 and La Sota vaccines. *MSc Thesis*. Department of Veterinary Surgery and Medicine, Ahmadu Bello University, Zaria, Nigeria.
- 10 Spadbrow, P. B., and Sabine, M. (1995). Australian studies on Newcastle disease virus *The French heritage*. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 46:15-19.
- 11 Bensink, Z. and Spradbrow, P. (1999). Newcastle disease virus strain I-2- a prospective thermostable vaccine for use in developing countries. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 68: 131-139.
- 12 Tu, T.D., Phuc, K.V., Dinh, N.T.K., Quoc, D.N. and Spradbrow, P.B. (1998). Vietnamese trials with a thermostable Newcastle disease vaccine (strain I-2) in experimental and village chickens. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 34: 205-214.
- 13 Wambura, P. N., Kapaga, A. M. and Hyera, J. M. K. (2000). Experimental trials with thermostable Newcastle disease virus (strain I-2) in commercial and village chickens in Tanzania. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 43(2): 75-83.
- 14 Wambura, P. N., Meers, J. and Spradbrow P. (2007): Survival of avirulent thermostable Newcastle disease virus (strain I-2) in raw, baked, oiled, and cooked white rice at ambient temperatures. *Journal of Veterinary Science*, 8: 303-308.
- 15 Fadiga, M., Jost, C. and Ihedioha, J. (2013) Financial costs of disease burden, morbidity and mortality from priority livestock diseases in Nigeria. Disease burden and cost–benefit analysis of targeted interventions. ILRI Research Report 33. Nairobi, Kenya: ILRI.
- 16 Mulugeta, A., Chanie, M., and Bogale, B. (2013). Major Constraints of Village Poultry Production in Demba Gofa District of Southern Region, Ethiopia. *British Journal of Poultry Science*, 2: 1-6.8.

- 17 International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI) (2014). Livestock policy analysis. ILRI Training Manual ILRI, Nairobi, Kenya.
- 18 Office International des Epizootics (OIE), 2000. Newcastle disease. In: Manual of Diagnostic Tests and Vaccines for Terrestrial Animals, adopted version. Chapter 2.612, pp: 1-24.
- 19 Kaaber, G. (1931). 50% end point calculation. *Archive für Experimentelle Pathologie Pharmakologie*, 162: 480-483.
- 20 Allan, W. H. and Gough, R. E. (1974). A standard haemagglutination inhibition test for Newcastle disease. *Veterinary Record*, 95:147-149.
- 21 Alders, R.G., Fringe, R. and Mata, B.V. (2000). Characteristics of the I-2 Live Thermostable Newcastle Disease Vaccine Produced at INIVE. In: Alders, R.G. and Spradbrow, P.B. ed. 2001. *SADC Planning Workshop on Newcastle Disease Control in Village Chickens*. Proceedings of an International Workshop, Maputo, Mozambique, 6-9 March 2000. ACIAR Proceedings N0 103, pp. 97-100.
- 22 Abdi, D Reta, Kasahun Amsalu, Olana Merera, Yilkal Asfaw, Eseyas Gelaye, Marta Yami and Teshale Sori (2016). Serological response and protection level evaluation in chickens exposed to grains coated with I2 Newcastle disease virus for effective oral vaccination of village chickens. *BMC Veterinary Research* (2016) 12:150.
- 23 Zoth, S. Chimeno, Gómez E., Carrillo E, and Berinstein A. (2008). Locally produced mucosal IgG in chickens immunized with conventional vaccines for Newcastle disease virus. 318 *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research* (2008) 41: 318-323 ISSN 0100-879X.